

STATE OF INDIANA
INDIANA UTILITY REGULATORY COMMISSION

IN RE: NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING

RM 05-03

LSA Document #05-100

COMMENTS OF THE INDIANA OFFICE
OF UTILITY CONSUMER COUNSELOR

The following are the Indiana Office of Utility Consumer Counselor's (OUCC) initial comments regarding the Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission's (IURC) Proposed Rule RM 05-03 (LSA Document #05-100). As the statutory representative of consumer interests, these initial comments reflect the OUCC's efforts to balance the impact of these proposed changes on a wide range of utility consumers.

The OUCC is generally supportive of the IURC's proposed changes. In particular, the increased affordability of deposits and reconnection of service will benefit all who work with these rules—including consumers, utilities, advocates, social services agencies, and regulators. However, the proposed rule on deposit amounts could have the effect of perpetuating a cycle of delinquent accounts, disconnects, and reconnects for certain customers, especially in today's environment of unprecedented natural gas prices. The public hearings on this topic have generated considerable input from consumers of this vital utility service. In September 2004, fourteen (14) people spoke at a public hearing in Indianapolis, Indiana in the related proceeding, RM 04-02. In December 2004, approximately 750 people attended a public hearing in South Bend, Indiana, at which 35 people gave oral testimony and an additional 271 filed written comments

also in RM 04-02. On October 4, 2005, approximately 60 attended a public hearing in Indianapolis, Indiana, at which 17 people gave oral testimony and an additional five (5) filed written comments. The common theme from customers ranging from senior citizens to young singles and new families is the difficulty in establishing new service or reconnection of service given the deposit requirements and creditworthiness standards. Social services agencies including government and non-government agencies echoed customers' concerns. The "heat or eat" choice was repeated often, as was the likelihood for customers to be forced to use other, more dangerous and less reliable means to heat their homes. The OUCC supports and recommends gas utility deposit rules designed to allow Indiana citizens to "heat *and* eat."

The OUCC has a number of specific comments and edits it recommends to the proposed rule. The OUCC's initial comments are outlined below first in summary by topic and then in greater detail following the chronological order used in LSA Document #05-100.

Finally, the OUCC's recommended edits to specific language in the proposed rule are "redlined" in a Word version of LSA Document #05-100 included as Attachment 1 at the end of these comments. Also attached to the OUCC's comments are public comments sent directly to the OUCC from various consumers, social services agencies, consumer representatives, and elected officials.

1.

SUMMARY OF INITIAL COMMENTS BY TOPIC

Deposits: Amounts

The OUCC supports and recommends a deposit of 1/12 of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service for the majority of customers including customers eligible for LIHEAP assistance. Customers with problem payment history for gas utility service may be required to make a deposit of 1/6 of the

regulated utility service. The OUCC does not generally support requiring deposits from present customers who may not be current in their payments but who are still connected for service. Current customers with delinquent accounts should be made to pay these delinquent amounts and given a payment plan that encourages payment of current amounts due in addition to a set amount to reduce past arrearages that is set forth in the customer's monthly bill. The OUCC would also encourage each utility to reconsider the customer eligibility requirements for budget billing programs. Currently, the three (3) large LDCs in Indiana allow only those customers who are current on their accounts to participate in budget billing. Budget billing should be available to a greater segment of the utility's customers. The OUCC suspects the very fact that a customer is in a "budget billing" program has a positive correlation to that customer's ability to get and stay current on their account.

The OUCC is respectful of the greater challenges that smaller utilities (serving less than 35,000 customers) may face when balancing amounts of customer deposits necessary to address the impact of non-payment on a utilities' bad debt exposure. As such, we can accept the higher deposit amounts stated for these utilities and the additional flexibility afforded these utilities by retaining the "not to exceed" language in the proposed rule.

The proposed rules contain a "Catch 22" provision that should be addressed by the Commission. As currently proposed in Section 15 (c)1)(6), in order to qualify for a lower deposit , the customer/applicant must be (i) eligible; (ii) applied for; ***and*** (iii) approved for LIHEAP---but LIHEAP is only approved for *currently connected* customers.

Lastly, the OUCC supports mandatory language in lieu of "not to exceed" language as it relates to deposits. A requirement of one or two months is reasonable and supported by what we do know about customer payment behavior. In addition, the 14 day notice requirement prior to disconnecting a customer's

service would indicate that a two (2) month deposit requirement for certain customers is not unreasonably related to the interest of a utility to contain its' bad debt exposure.

Reporting Requirements and Effective Dates

The OUCC was pleased to see the initial report on collection circumstances facing Indiana's six largest utilities that was completed using data beginning in 2005. (*Indiana Billing and Collection Reporting: Natural Gas and Electric Utilities (2005)*) This report was commissioned by the Coalition to Keep Indiana Warm and presented to the attendees at the most recent October 11 public event. Certainly while this effort represents a good start, more complete and better data is critical to understanding the complex relationship between stated rules and actual customer behavior and the impact of these factors on the utilities' bad debt experience. The OUCC's redlined document includes language to address this specific concern about the lack of reliable and complete utility data and recommends that certain reporting be required by the IURC for a three (3) year period at which time the rules could be revisited in light of the collected data. The OUCC believes the report prepared by Roger D. Colton and referenced in these comments could amply serve as the launching pad for a Commission sanctioned reported requirement. An interim annual report could be published in October of 2006 with a final report in October 2007 and these reports could provide a basis for discussions among the stakeholders as to the appropriateness of current rules or the need to change the rules.

2.

DETAIL OF INITIAL COMMENTS BY CITATION/CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER

170 IAC 5-1-15 Creditworthiness of customer; deposit; refund

Sec. 15(c):

Deposits: Maximum Amount

15(c)(1)(A): While the OUCC supports the rule's maximum deposit of 1/6 of estimated annual billings (or one (1) month) for some situations, the OUCC believes that new applicants who have not been a customer of the utility during the previous four years deserve more affordable access to establishing service with the utility. Such applicants should be required to pay a deposit no greater than 1/12 of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to the applicant. This amount balances access for applicants with no recent prior defaults with the utilities' concern of the greater risk of non-payment by these new applicants for service.

15(c)(1)(B): The OUCC supports and recommends a deposit of 1/6 of estimated annual cost (or two (2) months) for regulated utility service for new applicants (as opposed to existing customers with delinquent payment accounts) with a recent history of disconnection for non-payment, delinquent payments or owing outstanding bills for utility service. Currently connected customers with delinquent accounts should not be assessed a deposit; instead, these customers should be placed on a budget billing plan with a fixed payment of a portion of the arrearage amount to be paid in addition to the customer's current bill, with the total delinquent amount to be paid within an eighteen (18) month period. This addresses the utility's concern with delinquent accounts while requiring certain customers to make regular and timely payments.

15(c)(1)(C): The OUCC supports a deposit of 1/6 of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to be rendered to *eligible* applicants for low income heating assistance for the period November 1 to March 15 of any year.

15(h): The OUCC supports and recommends the IURC establish an explicit data reporting

mechanism to enable it to have better information than that which is currently available as a result of voluntary reporting by some utilities, that would be used in future proceedings.

15(i): The OUCC supports and recommends an expiration of this section after three years to allow all interested stakeholders an opportunity to revisit these rules and assess the actual impact of the rules on customers and the utility as evidenced by the data gathered under Section 15(i).

The OUCC's suggested language is included in the attached, redlined LSA Document #05-100.

OUCG Proposal – Redline

10/5/05

170 IAC 5-1-15 Creditworthiness of customer; deposit; refund

Authority: IC 8-1-1-3

Affected: IC 8-1-2-87; IC 12-14-11; IC 32-34-1-20

Sec. 15. (a) Each utility shall determine the creditworthiness of residential applicants or customers in an equitable and nondiscriminatory method:

- (1) without regard to the economic character of the area wherein the applicant or customer resides; and
- (2) solely upon the credit risk of the individual without regard to the collective credit reputation of the area in which he or she lives.

(b) Each new applicant for residential gas service shall be deemed creditworthy and shall not be required to make a ~~cash~~ deposit as a condition of receiving service if the applicant satisfies the following criteria:

- (1) If the applicant has been a customer of any utility within the last two (2) years, the applicant:
 - (A) owes no outstanding bills for service rendered within the past four (4) years by any such utility;
 - (B) during the last twelve (12) consecutive months that the service was provided, did not have more than two (2) bills that were delinquent to any utility or, if service was rendered for a period for less than twelve (12) months, did not have more than one (1) delinquent bill in ~~such~~ **the** period; and
 - (C) within the last two (2) years, did not have a service disconnected by a utility for nonpayment of a bill for services rendered by that utility.
- (2) If the applicant has not been a customer of a utility during the previous two (2) years, any two (2) of the following criteria are met:
 - (A) The applicant either:
 - (i) has been employed by his or her present employer for two (2) years;
 - (ii) has been employed by his or her present employer for less than two (2) years, but has been employed by only one (1) other employer during the past two (2) years; or
 - (iii) has been employed by the present employer for less than two (2) years and has no previous employment due to recently:
 - (AA) graduating from a school, university, or vocational program; or
 - (BB) being discharged from military service.
 - (B) The applicant either:
 - (i) owns or is buying his or her home; or
 - (ii) is renting a home or an apartment and has occupied the premises for more than two (2) years.
 - (C) The applicant has credit cards, charge accounts, or has been extended credit by a bank or commercial concern unless a credit check shows that the applicant has been in default on any such account more than twice within the last twelve (12) months.

(c) Deposits for residential customers shall be assessed as follows:

(1) Deposits for utilities serving at least thirty-five thousand (35,000) residential customers, as listed in the utility's most recent annual report on file with the commission, **or their affiliates as defined in clause (E) below**, shall be assessed as follows:

(A) New applicants who have not been a customer of the utility during the previous four (4) years who fail to establish creditworthiness under subsection (b)(2) may be required to make a deposit ~~not to exceed one-sixth ($\frac{1}{6}$)~~ **of one-twelfth ($\frac{1}{12}$)** of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to be rendered to the applicant.

(B) Subject to the requirements of clause (D), an applicant that has been a customer of the utility during the previous four (4) years may be required to make a deposit ~~not to exceed one-third ($\frac{1}{3}$)~~ **of one-sixth ($\frac{1}{6}$)** of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to be rendered to the applicant when the applicant:

- (i) owes an outstanding bill for service rendered by the utility within the past four (4) years;

- (ii) during the last twelve (12) consecutive months that the service was provided, had more than two (2) bills that were delinquent to the utility or, if service was rendered for a period of less than twelve (12) months, had more than one (1) delinquent bill in such period; or
- (iii) within the last two (2) years had service disconnected by the utility for nonpayment of a bill for services rendered by that utility.

~~(C) Subject to the requirements of clause (D), a present customer may be required to make a deposit not to exceed one-third (1/3) of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to be rendered to the customer when:~~

- ~~(i) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for two (2) consecutive months;~~
- ~~(ii) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for any three (3) months within the preceding twelve (12) month period;~~
- ~~or~~
- ~~(iii) the service to the customer has been disconnected within the previous two (2) years under section 16 of this rule.~~

~~(C) A present customer will be required to participate in a fixed billing plan when:~~

- ~~(i) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for two (2) consecutive months;~~
- ~~(ii) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for any three (3) months within the preceding twelve (12) month period;~~
- ~~or~~
- ~~(iii) the service to the customer has been disconnected within the past four (4) years under section 16 of this rule.~~

~~The monthly fixed bill amount must equal one twelfth (1/12) of the average annual charges plus an additional fixed amount each month to reduce any arrearage amount within eighteen (18) months.~~

~~(D) From ~~December~~ November 1 to March 15 of any year, applicants or customers who the utility has been informed by the state or its agent:~~

- ~~(i) are eligible for;~~
- ~~(ii) have applied for; and~~
- ~~(iii) have been approved to receive;~~

~~low income heating assistance under IC 12-14-11, may be required to make a deposit not to exceed one-sixth (1/6) of one-twelfth (1/12) of the estimated annual cost of regulated utility service to be rendered to the applicant or customer.~~

~~(E) An initial deposit made by an applicant shall be subject to reevaluation upon the request of either the utility or the applicant, based upon actual charges for services rendered, at any time after service has been provided.~~

~~(F) The provisions of this subdivision shall apply to any utility, regardless of size, that has an affiliate utility serving at least thirty-five thousand (35,000) residential customers, as listed in the utility's most recent annual report on file with the commission.~~

(2) Subject to the provisions of subdivision (1)(F), deposits for utilities serving less than thirty-five thousand (35,000) residential customers, as listed in the utility's most recent annual report on file with the commission, shall be assessed as follows:

~~(A) If the applicant fails to establish that he or she is creditworthy under subsection (b), the applicant may be required to make a reasonable cash deposit. Such The deposit shall not exceed one-third (1/3) of the estimated annual cost of service to be rendered to the applicant unless the customer has contracted for the budget plan, in which case the amount of the deposit shall be no more than the equivalent of two (2) monthly budget payments. If a deposit is greater than seventy dollars (\$70), the utility shall advise the applicant or customer simultaneously with making a demand for a deposit that the applicant or customer may pay such the deposit in equal installment payments over a period of no less than eight (8) weeks. Service shall be connected upon receipt by the utility of the first such payment..~~

(B) A present customer may be required to make a reasonable cash deposit when:

- (i) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for two (2) consecutive months;**
- (ii) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for any three (3) months within the preceding twelve (12) month period;**
- or**
- (iii) the service to the customer has been disconnected within the past four (4) years under section 16 of this rule.**

The amount of such deposit may not exceed an amount equal to one-third (1/3) of the expected annual billings for the customer at the address at which service is rendered unless the customer has contracted for the budget plan, in which case the amount of the deposit shall be no more than the equivalent of two (2) monthly budget payments.

(d) If the utility requires a cash deposit as a condition of providing service, then it must:

- (1) immediately notify the applicant in writing stating the precise facts upon which the utility based its decision; and
- (2) provide the applicant with an opportunity to rebut such the facts and show other facts demonstrating his or her creditworthiness.

(e) A utility may require a present customer to make a reasonable cash deposit when:

- (1) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for two (2) consecutive months;
- (2) the customer has been mailed disconnect notices for any three (3) months within the preceding twelve (12) month period; or
- (3) the service to the customer has been disconnected within the past four (4) years pursuant to section 16 of this rule.

The amount of such deposit may not exceed an amount equal to one-third ($\frac{1}{3}$) of the expected annual billings for the customer at the address at which service is rendered unless the customer has contracted for the budget plan, in which case the amount of the deposit shall be no more than the equivalent of two (2) monthly budget payments. **Subject to the provisions of subdivision (1)(F), a utility serving at least thirty-five thousand (35,000) residential customers, as listed in the utility's most recent annual report on file with the commission, in the event the required deposit is in excess of seventy one hundred fifty dollars (\$70), (\$150), the utility shall advise the customer that he or she may pay such the deposit in equal installments, the initial installment being one hundred fifty dollars (\$150), with subsequent payments of the deposit balance paid over a period of up to eight (8) twelve (12) weeks, except where such the deposit is required as a result of a disconnection for nonpayment, in which case full payment of the deposit may be required prior to reconnection. The utility shall record the terms of any payment arrangement by selecting one (1) of the following methods:**

- (1) **Sending the customer a letter describing the terms of the payment arrangement, including the following:**
 - (A) **The amount of each installment.**
 - (B) **The due date or dates.**
 - (C) **The total amount due.**
 - (D) **An explanation that failure to comply with the terms of the arrangement may lead to disconnection of service.**
- (2) **Describing the terms of the payment arrangement on the customer's bill, including the following:**
 - (A) **The amount of each installment.**
 - (B) **The due date or dates.**
 - (C) **The total amount due.**
 - (D) **An explanation that failure to comply with the terms of the arrangement may lead to disconnection of service.**
- (3) **Making a voice recording of a telephone conversation in which the customer agrees to the payment arrangement, including the following:**
 - (A) **The amount of each installment.**
 - (B) **The due date or dates.**
 - (C) **The total amount due.**
 - (D) **An explanation that failure to comply with the terms of the arrangement may lead to disconnection of service.**

Recordings of telephonic payment arrangements shall be maintained for at least six (6) months after the arrangement is completed or broken by the customer.

(f) Requirements for interest upon deposits shall be as follows:

~~(1) Deposits held more than twelve (12) months shall earn interest from the date of deposit at a rate of six percent (6%) per annum or at such other rate of interest as the commission may prescribe following a public hearing.~~

(1) A deposit held more than thirty (30) days shall earn interest from the date the deposit is paid in full. Beginning on the effective date of this rule, the rate of interest shall be set by the commission based upon the then existing rate for one (1) year United States Treasury Constant Maturity securities. The interest rate shall be rounded to the nearest one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) of one percent (1%). In December of each year, the commission shall issue a general administrative order establishing the interest rate for the next calendar year that shall be paid on all deposits held during all or part of the subsequent year.

(2) The deposit shall not earn interest after the date it is mailed or personally delivered to the customer, or otherwise lawfully disposed.

(g) Requirements for refunds shall be as follows:

(1) Any deposit or accrued interest shall be promptly refunded **directly to the customer or credited to the customer's account** without the customer's request when the customer:

- (A) submits satisfactory payment for a period of either:
 - (i) twelve (12) successive months; or
 - (ii) twelve (12) out of any fifteen (15) consecutive months without late payment in two (2) consecutive months; or
- (B) demonstrates his or her creditworthiness as provided by subsection (b).

(2) Refunds of deposits or accrued interest issued under this section must be accompanied by a statement of accounting for each transaction affecting the deposit and interest.

(3) Following customer-requested termination of service, the utility shall:

- (A) apply the deposit, plus accrued interest, to the final bill; or
- (B) upon specific request from the customer, refund the deposit, plus accrued interest, within fifteen (15) days after payment of

the final bill.

- (4) Each utility shall maintain a record of each applicant or customer making a deposit that shows the following:
- (A) The name of the customer.
 - (B) The current address of the customer so long as he or she maintains an active account with the utility in his or her name.
 - (C) The amount of the deposit.
 - (D) The date the deposit was made.
 - (E) A record of each transaction affecting ~~such the~~ deposit.

- (5) Each customer shall be provided a written receipt from the utility:
- (A) at the time his or her deposit is paid in full; or
 - (B) when he or she makes a ~~cash~~ partial payment.

The public utility shall provide a reasonable method by which a customer who is unable to locate his or her receipt may establish that he or she is entitled to a refund of the deposit and payment of interest thereon.

- (6) Any deposit made by the applicant, customer, or any other person to the utility (less any lawful deductions), or any sum the utility is ordered to refund for utility service, that has remained unclaimed for one (1) year after the utility has made diligent efforts to locate the person who made ~~such the~~ deposit or the heirs of ~~such the~~ person, shall be presumed abandoned and treated in accordance with ~~IC 32-9-1.5-20(c)(10)~~. **IC 32-34-1 et seq.**

- (7) A deposit may be used by the utility to cover any unpaid balance following disconnection of service under section 16 of this rule, provided, however, that any surplus be returned to the customer as provided in subsection (f) and this subsection.

(h) The commission shall require data to be reported by the utilities in order to determine whether a utility is providing service consistent with this rule. The utility shall respond to any survey that is issued by the commission in a timely manner, and provide copies of such survey responses to the office of the utility consumer counselor. Requested information in the survey may include, but is not limited to the following:

- (1) the amount of collected deposits;**
- (2) the number of customers assessed deposits;**
- (3) the number of customers served who are eligible for low-income heating assistance; and**
- (4) the amount of uncollected debt.**

(i) This section shall expire three (3) years from the date it takes effect, unless the commission readopts this section pursuant to IC 4-22-2.5 et seq. The expiration date of this section shall be extended each time that a rule amending this section takes effect. The rule, as amended, expires on January 1 of the third year after the year in which the amendment takes effect. (Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission; No. 34613: Standards of Service For Gas Public Utilities Rule 15; filed Oct 14, 1976, 10:20 a.m.: Rules and Regs. 1977, p. 401; filed Oct 28, 1998, 3:22 p.m.: 22 IR 730; errata filed Nov 22, 1999, 3:31 p.m.: 23 IR 812; readopted filed Jul 11, 2001, 4:30 p.m.: 24 IR 4233)

SECTION 2. 170 IAC 5-1-16 IS AMENDED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

170 IAC 5-1-16 Disconnection of service; prohibited disconnections; reconnection

Authority: IC 8-1-1-3; IC 8-1-1-12; IC 8-1-2-4

Affected: IC 8-1-2-87; IC 8-1-2-122; IC 8-1-2.5

Sec. 16. (a) The customer shall notify the utility at least three (3) days in advance of the day disconnection is desired. The customer shall remain responsible for all service used and the billings therefor until service is disconnected pursuant to such notice. Upon request by a customer of a utility to disconnect service, the utility shall disconnect the service within three (3) working days of the requested disconnection date. The customer shall not be liable for any service rendered to ~~such the~~ address or location after the expiration of three (3) such days.

- (b) A utility may disconnect service without request by the customer of the service and without prior notice only:
- (1) if a condition dangerous or hazardous to life, physical safety, or property exists; ~~or~~
 - (2) upon order by any court, the commission, or other duly authorized public authority; ~~or~~
 - (3) if fraudulent or unauthorized use of gas is detected and the utility has reasonable grounds to believe the affected customer is responsible for ~~such the~~ use; ~~or~~
 - (4) if the utility's regulating or measuring equipment has been tampered with and the utility has reasonable grounds to believe that the affected customer is responsible for ~~such the~~ tampering; **or**
 - (5) if the utility's equipment is used in a manner disruptive to the service of other customers.**

In all other instances a utility, upon providing the customer with proper notice (as defined in subsection (e) of this section), ~~(f)~~, may disconnect service subject to the other provisions of ~~170 IAC 5-1~~, **this rule**.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in subsections (a) and (b), ~~of this section~~, a utility shall postpone the disconnection of service for ten (10) days if, ~~prior to~~ **before** the disconnect date specified in the disconnect notice, the customer provides the utility with a medical statement from a licensed physician or public health official ~~which that~~ states that disconnection would be a serious and immediate threat to the health or safety of a designated person in the household of the customer. The postponement of disconnection shall be continued for one (1) additional ten (10) day period upon the provision of an additional such medical statement. **The utility shall be required to provide the customer a total of twenty (20) days postponement of disconnection for medical reasons under this subsection only once in any twelve (12) month period. Further postponement of disconnection for medical reasons shall be at the utility's discretion.**

(d) A utility may not disconnect service to the customer as follows:

(1) Upon ~~his~~ **the customer's** failure to pay for:

(A) merchandise or appliances purchased from the utility furnishing the gas **or other nonutility or unregulated services;**

~~(2) upon his failure to pay for (B) the service rendered at a different metering point, residence, or location if such the bill has remained unpaid for less than forty-five (45) days;~~

~~(3) upon his failure to pay for (C) services to a previous occupant of premises to be served, unless the utility has good reason to believe the customer is attempting to defraud the utility; by using another name; or~~

~~(4) upon his failure to pay for (D) a different form or class of utility service. or~~

~~(5)~~ **(2)** If the customer shows cause for ~~his~~ **the customer's** inability to pay the full amount due (financial hardship shall constitute cause), and ~~said~~ **the** customer:

(A) pays a reasonable portion, not to exceed: \$10

(i) twenty-five dollars (\$25); or

(ii) one-tenth ($\frac{1}{10}$) of the bill;

whichever is less, unless the customer agrees to a greater portion, of the bill; ~~and~~

(B) agrees to pay:

(i) the remainder of the outstanding bill within three (3) months; and

~~(C) agrees to pay~~ **(ii) all undisputed future bills for service as they become due; and**

~~(D)~~ **(C)** has not breached any similar agreement with the utility made ~~pursuant to~~ **under** this section within the past twelve (12) months.

Provided, however, that the utility may add to the outstanding bill a late payment charge not to exceed the amount set ~~pursuant to 170 IAC 5-1-13(b)~~, **under section 13(B) of this rule**. Provided further, that the above terms of agreement shall be put in writing by the utility and signed by the customer and by a representative of the utility. Only one (1) late payment charge may be charged to the customer under this section. **"Unregulated services", as used in subsection (d)(1)(A), does not include utility services provided under an alternative regulatory plan approved by the commission under IC 8-1-2.5 et seq.**

~~(6)~~ **(3)** If a customer is unable to pay a bill, which is unusually large due to prior incorrect reading of the meter, incorrect application of the rate schedule, incorrect connection or functioning of the meter, prior estimates where no actual reading was taken for over two (2) months, stopped or slow meters, or any human or mechanical error of the utility, and the customer:

(A) pays a reasonable portion of the bill, not to exceed an amount equal to the customer's average bill for the twelve (12) bills immediately preceding the bill in question; and

(B) agrees to pay:

(i) the remainder at a reasonable rate; and

~~(C) agrees to pay~~ **(ii) all undisputed future bills for service as they become due.**

Provided, however, that the utility may not add to the outstanding bill any late fee. Provided, further, that the above terms of agreement shall be put in writing by the utility and signed by the customer and a representative of the utility. If a customer proceeds with a review ~~pursuant to 170 IAC 5-1-17(b)~~, **under section 17(B) of this rule**, the utility may disconnect only as provided in ~~170 IAC 5-1-17(c)~~, **section 17(C) of this rule**.

~~(d)~~ **(e)** No utility may disconnect service unless it is done between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m., prevailing local time. Disconnection ~~pursuant to~~ **under** subsections (a) and (b) ~~of this section~~ are not subject to this limitation. A utility may not disconnect service for nonpayment on any day on which the utility office is closed to the public, or after ~~twelve noon (12:00 noon)~~ of the day immediately preceding any day on which the utility office is not open to the public.

(e) (f) Except as otherwise provided herein, gas service to any residential customer shall not be disconnected for a violation of any rule or regulation of a utility or for the nonpayment of a bill, except after fourteen (14) days prior written notice to ~~such the~~ customer by either:

- (1) mailing the notice to ~~such the~~ residential customer at the address shown on the records of the public utility; or
- (2) personal delivery of the notice to the residential customer or a responsible member of ~~his the customer's~~ household at the address shown on the records of the utility.

(3) No disconnect notice for nonpayment may be rendered prior to the date on which the account becomes delinquent.

(g) The notice **in subsection (f)** must be in language ~~which that~~ is clear, concise, and easily understandable to a ~~layman layperson~~ and shall state in separately numbered large types or printed paragraphs **the following**:

- (1) The date of ~~the~~ proposed disconnection.
- (2) The specific actual basis and reason for the proposed disconnection.
- (3) The telephone number of the utility office at which the customer may call during regular business hours in order to question the proposed disconnection or seek information concerning ~~his the customer's~~ rights.
- (4) A reference to the pamphlet furnished to the customer ~~pursuant to 170 IAC 5-1-18~~ **under section 18 of this rule** for information as to the customer's rights.

(4) (h) Immediately preceding the actual disconnection of service, the employee of the utility designated to perform ~~such that~~ function shall:

- (1) make a reasonable attempt to identify himself **or herself** to the customer or any other responsible person then upon the premises; ~~and shall~~
- (2) announce the purpose of his **or her** presence; ~~and shall~~
- (3) make a record thereof to be maintained for at least thirty (30) days; ~~The employee shall~~
- (4) have in his **or her** possession information sufficient to enable him **or her** to inform the customer or other responsible person of the reason for disconnection, including the amount of any delinquent bill of the customer; ~~and shall~~
- (5) request from the customer any available verification that the outstanding bill has been satisfied or is currently in dispute ~~pursuant to~~ **under review under 170 IAC 5-1-17(b), section 17(B) of this rule.**

Upon the presentation of such credible evidence, service shall not be disconnected. The employee shall not be required to accept payment from the customer or other responsible person in order to prevent the service from being disconnected. The utility shall notify its customers ~~pursuant to 170 IAC 5-1-18~~ **under section 18 of this rule** of its policy with regard to the acceptance or nonacceptance of payment by ~~such the~~ employee and shall uniformly follow ~~such the~~ policy without discrimination. When the employee has disconnected the service, the employee shall give to a responsible person at the user's premises, or, if no one is at home, shall leave at a conspicuous place on the premises, a notice stating that service has been disconnected and stating the address and telephone number of the utility where the user may arrange to have service reconnected.

(g) (i) A utility may charge a reasonable reconnection charge, not to exceed the charge approved by the commission in the utility's filed tariffs. A utility shall inform its customers of ~~such the~~ reconnection fee ~~pursuant to 170 IAC 5-1-18, under section 18 of this rule.~~ If the utility disconnects service in violation of ~~170 IAC 5-1, this rule,~~ the service shall immediately be restored at no charge to the customer. The utility must reconnect the service to the customer as soon as reasonably possible but at least within one (1) working day after it is requested to do so if the customer has satisfied the requirements of ~~170 IAC 5-1, this rule.~~ (*Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission; No. 34613: Standards of Service For Gas Public Utilities Rule 16; filed Oct 14, 1976, 10:20 a.m.: Rules and Regs. 1977, p. 403; filed Oct 13, 1983, 4:02 p.m.: 7 IR 40; readopted filed Jul 11, 2001, 4:30 p.m.: 24 IR 4233*)

(j) This section shall expire three (3) years from the date it takes effect, unless the commission readopts this section pursuant to IC 4-22-2.5 et seq. The expiration date of this section shall be extended each time that a rule amending this section takes effect. The rule, as amended, expires on January 1 of the third year after the year in which the amendment takes effect.

SECTION 3. SECTIONS 1 and 2 of this document take effect 30 days after filing with the secretary of state.